

Resilience in Corrections A Proactive Approach to Changing Conditions







U.S. Department of Justice National Institute of Corrections 320 First Street, NW Washington, DC 20534

Robert M. Brown, Jr.

Acting Director

Jim Cosby

Acting Chief, Academy Division

Amanda Hall

Project Manager

Michael Connelly David Feldman

Authors

National Institute of Corrections www.nicic.gov

Resilience in Corrections: Planning and Preparation for Changing Environmental

Conditions
March 2014

Accession Number: 028089

This document was developed and/or compiled under the auspices of the U.S. Department of Justice, National Institute of Corrections. MATERIAL NOT OTHERWISE COPYRIGHTED IS IN THE PUBLIC DOMAIN AND MAY BE REPRINTED OR QUOTED WITH APPROPRIATE CREDIT GIVEN TO THE NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF CORRECTIONS.

ABSTRACT

This white paper describes the issues facing corrections policy and leadership as the impacts of climate change and its related consequences confront departments, agencies, and facilities in coming years. Not only will corrections have to manage the effects of more extreme weather and temperatures than in the past. Corrections will also have to develop and improve its flexibility and resiliency in its operations to weather the multiple coming changes while maintaining its core functions of protecting the public, corrections staffs, and offenders. Programs and precedents do exist to provide foundations for future action when correctional policymakers and practitioners determine those issues must be addressed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
INTRODUCTION	3
THE POTENTIAL IMPACT	
THE ROLE OF LEADERSHIP	6
RESILIENCE-ORIENTED LEADERSHIP	9
CONCLUSION	10
AUTHOR BIOS	
Michael Connelly, Ph.D.	
David Feldman, Ph.D.	12
RESOURCES	13
Books	13
Interactive Maps	13
Programs and Organizations	13
NOTES	15

INTRODUCTION

Wildfires in Colorado. Hurricanes and flooding in New Orleans and New Jersey. Rains and flooding in Iowa. Drought in California. Tornadoes in Missouri and Oklahoma. Seacoast erosion in Louisiana. Sea level rise in the Carolinas. Water shortages in the West bringing calls for diversion of other water sources, even the Great Lakes. Extreme heat in Texas. Extreme snowfall in Pennsylvania. Ice in Georgia. Tests of aging power grids and transportation infrastructure. Unprecedented social and individual costs in health, economy, and food. Higher pricing of carbon-based fuels. More crime, primarily violent.

The future.

In some cases, corrections departments and their facilities will be directly hit. In others, the hit will be on their share of remaining state and local budgets after the damages have been paid for. In others, the basics of operations will be completely rethought as the easy access to and low costs of energy, water, food, materials, and transporting/locating of inmates, probationers, parolees, and others under correctional supervision diminish or come at higher political costs. In yet others, systems of routine care, maintenance, and distribution of not just inmates but also records and equipment will be placed at severe risk. In all cases, the growing effects of extreme weather, climate change, and their related aftereffects promise to change correctional planning and operations for years to come.

While climate change and its associated impacts remain politically contested, at operational levels of important public and private institutions in the U.S. it is not in doubt.¹ Key organizations and political actors have already begun their planning to adapt to, mitigate, and counteract the climate change already "baked" into the future through past greenhouse

While climate change and its associated impacts remain politically contested, at operational levels of important public and private institutions in the U.S. it is not in doubt.

gas emissions that have yet to impact global temperatures. Current and future emissions will extend that period of adaptation, mitigation, and counteraction for which these institutions, charged with protection of national security and welfare, have to prepare.

For example, President Obama in November 2013 issued an Executive Order (2013) mandating federal preparation for impacts of climate change.² This included development of "climate resilient investment" by federal departments and management of federal lands and water as well as creation of a "Council on Climate Preparedness and Resilience" with an accompanying task force of state, local, and tribal leaders to advise that council. This executive order followed previous efforts and analyses already begun by the U.S. military,³ insurance companies,⁴ major businesses,⁵ the World Bank,⁶ and major cities around the globe.⁷ Simply put, organizations with expectations and responsibilities based in clear understanding of most likely futures have decided to invest heavily in planning, preparation, and operations for continued and intensifying impacts of climate change and its related outcomes in the near term.

With very similar expectations and responsibilities, shouldn't corrections?

THE POTENTIAL IMPACT

Climate change events naturally will vary from state to state and within states.

Correctional leaders developing their responses to, and plans for, these events will need to have clear understandings of all the possibilities. Depending on the state and locality, these possibilities include:

...organizations with expectations and responsibilities based in clear understanding of most likely futures have decided to invest heavily in planning, preparation, and operations for continued and intensifying impacts of climate change...shouldn't corrections?

- Extreme weather conditions and events that damage facility infrastructure and raise or lower temperatures past traditional comfort levels of staff and inmates which may impact morale and behavior as well as future lawsuits over prison conditions⁸;
- Access to sufficient potable water as drought and other public and private demands compete with correctional needs and uses⁹;
- Higher and unstable fuel prices eating into facility and department budgets through uses from facility operations to inmate and staff transport¹⁰;
- Infrastructure issues as buildings, roads, and facility land designed and developed for uses at different temperatures now unsuited for more common extreme high and lows and for longer periods of time¹¹;
- Narrowed availability of and accessibility to food as heat and drought affect traditional levels of production of crops and meat¹²;
- New and extended health issues deriving from heat stress, mental illness associated
 with unstable and unhealthy conditions, infectious diseases (and the insects
 carrying them) "moving" to new areas¹³;
- Power outages associated with an aging and vulnerable electrical power grid system¹⁴;
- Safety of staff and inmates with morale and interactions tested by increasingly pressurized contexts; and
- Higher crime rates associated with hotter temperatures bringing more violent offenders into state and local corrections, particularly incarceration.¹⁵

These possibilities are not hypothetical. Already we see the impact of extreme heat and lack of adequate water supplies on lawsuits, staff recruitment and retention, and infrastructure built for past climates. The ratcheting of fuel prices, always from higher

Already we see the impact of extreme heat and lack of adequate water supplies on lawsuits, staff recruitment and retention, and infrastructure built for past climates.

bases than the previous ratcheting, is old news. The major highways for transporting inmates and non-inmates will need additional repairs and closures and some may have to be moved. California produce and Texas cattle are at this writing in decline. Power grid concerns have become hot button issues at the highest levels of national security. All these possible results will become more common and frequent nationally, if not in specific locales, and most corrections organizations will face more than one more than once. As mentioned above, even if a particular department or facility is not directly impacted, it will likely be drawn into greater budgetary competition for funds remaining after the climate change events have been paid for. All will be affected by the higher costs, lesser accessibility and availability, and greater call for new ideas and practices to deal with this changing, fluxing future whether directly impacted physically or fiscally.

THE ROLE OF LEADERSHIP

Two difficulties immediately arise for correctional leaders considering action and planning either to respond proactively to potential threats or to plan for likely events. One, they must psychologically come to terms with the slow-motion but very real changes occurring in our climate. The science of climate change and the consensus of actual climate scientists are overwhelming even if the politics of accepting that science and consensus are not. Two, while acknowledging the politics of moving toward adaptation, mitigation, and prevention, correctional leaders through their own routine management decisions, such as budgeting, land and material use, and infrastructure maintenance and extension, can act in many productive ways that have value without reference to climate change. That is, many of the options considered to deal with climate change at the department and/or facility level will be good management whether or not the projections of climate scientists are totally or

All will be affected by the higher costs, lesser accessibility and availability, and greater call for new ideas and practices to deal with this changing, fluxing future.

partially true. Even without climate change, pressures on and competition for state funds will likely continue escalating in future years, making decisions on better use of resources, improving self-sufficiency, and maximizing efficient use of fuel, water and other resources good in themselves.

Planning for future impacts of climate change, whether immediate events such as weather emergencies or drawn-out consequences of long-term change such as infrastructure, must assess the probabilities of these climate change-related outcomes for individual facilities and the operation of the corrections department as a whole. While "strategic planning" frequently raises howls among staff, primarily because of perceived lack of ties with later operations, climate change planning with efforts to address the concerns outlined above can be made more "emergency footing," and incentives associated with ideas and implementations directly relating the planning to later action. Department responsibilities and reporting can be distributed among executive staff and facility managers and staff with those most effective being demonstrably applauded and rewarded. That the entire department has committed to the enterprise must be clear. The same planning format can then be used at other facilities and at other organizational levels.

For what will they plan? The list of concerns initially provided above may detail the agenda but not the responses, which will vary from organization to organization. Most corrections departments have policies and procedures for dealing with at least some of the concerns discussed above, at least in isolation. But how many are ready for downed electrical grids that prolong past generator capacity? How many do the training and have the activities prepared to handle summers that now feature two or three times the number of one hundred degree days as in the past? This does not include the concerns that may arise in

...prior policies and procedures developed in different environments than those faced today and those to come and should at the least be reexamined for soundness. combination, such as hurricane and flood, wildfire and destroyed roads or bridges, or trucked water transported with fuel priced in the high range of the usual ratcheting. In any case, prior policies and procedures developed in different environments than those faced today and those to come and should at the least be reexamined for soundness.

For those correctional leaders at facility and department level seeking new ideas and practices to buffer and avoid the possible problems, many precedents already exist for study and copy. ¹⁶ The National Institute of Corrections features a "Green Corrections" section with training and models, ¹⁷ and Green Prisons does the same along with hosting "regional sustainability" forums. ¹⁸ Several states such as Illinois ¹⁹, Ohio ²⁰, California ²¹, and Oregon have already started initiatives. In Washington state, Evergreen State College and the state DOC have a "Sustainability in Prisons Project" with over a decade of experience. ²² Other states and cities, such as Louisiana and New Orleans and New Jersey and its communities, have already gone through traumatic events and provided case studies of impacts and responses. ²³

While these efforts do not address the full complexity of the current and coming storm of climate change, they demonstrate both the necessary awareness and acceptance of the need and the range of models and concepts available for other states and organizations to base new action upon. Among these new options are:

- Use of rooftops for energy generation, conservation, and food stuffs through solar panels, white reflective paint, and roof gardens;
- Co-generation of electrical power through current technology, the excess of which can be sold back to power utilities;

For those correctional leaders at facility and department level seeking new ideas and practices to buffer and avoid the possible problems, many precedents already exist.

- Water conservation and harvesting, including recycling of waste water; and
- Reduced fuel usage for department and staff through increased telecommuting and teleconferencing of all possible functions including operations, health care, and meetings.

Again, even should climate change impact be less than currently projected, all of these actions can effect savings and efficiencies for departments and facilities. Added benefits of such proactive efforts might include revenue potential from sold power and products and the preparation of reentering inmates for careers in the areas such as alternative energy, water management, and food production. The latter may find multiple opportunities in the growing business response to the challenges posed by climate change as well as delivering positive contributions to their communities when reentering since many of those communities are and will be particularly hard hit by the problems discussed here as well.

RESILIENCE-ORIENTED LEADERSHIP

Effective corrections leadership in this changing environment will require more than just clear missions and solid coordination at the facility and department level. The kind of proactive vision and resilient recoveries necessary will require particular qualities of leadership. As Zolli and Healy have detailed²⁴, resilience-oriented leadership will have to focus on:

- ensuring that there are sufficient reserves available to any given system;
- or diversifying its inputs;
- or collecting better, real-time data about its operations and performance;

The kind of proactive vision and resilient recoveries necessary will require particular qualities of leadership.

- or enabling greater autonomy for its constituent parts;
- or designing firebreaks so that a disturbance in on part does not disrupt the whole.

In addition, such leadership will have to continue and extend partnerships with other state, local, and federal agencies as well as with private and non-profit organizations that engaged in similar efforts and/or able to share or exchange needed resources. The leadership that created the Evergreen State/Washington DOC "sustainability" project is a good example. In other words, traditional corrections leadership will need to be complemented and supplemented with flexible and creative interaction both inside and outside the department's boundaries on a scale to match the challenges ahead.

CONCLUSION

The future combination of more strained resources with new and different challenges makes maintenance of status quo strategies of incarceration policy even less tenable than their generally troubled state today. Those pressures will require corrections leaders to demonstrate their actual capacities more effectively and to work in partnerships with external groups to find alternatives to incarceration on greater scales than currently. This must include better data and analysis to report what works and does not in delivering maximum public safety through corrections policies and what alternatives might be more effective.

Failing this will leave important decision-making blind in a turbulent time. However, proactive and resilient leadership will survey its current and coming environments with knowledge of the threats, of the options to address them and their effectiveness, and of the paths and partnerships to pursue to provide the public and policymakers with the safety and effectiveness that they expect within the challenged resources available in the unprecedented days ahead.

AUTHOR BIOS

Michael Connelly, Ph.D.

Michael Connelly teaches undergraduate and graduate criminal justice in the University of Oklahoma's College of Liberal Studies. He was most recently a partner in ICO Consulting, which served correctional and sentencing resources to state and local governments, and managed its Corrections Sentencing 2020 blog. He was previously Administrator of the Evaluation & Analysis Unit of the Oklahoma Department of Corrections and also served as executive director of sentencing commissions in Maryland and Wisconsin. Prior to that, he was research director for the Oklahoma Criminal Justice Resource Center, which staffed the state sentencing commission and allowed him to serve as state Statistical Analysis Center director.

Dr. Connelly also managed grant projects for the Justice Research and Statistics Association, including BJA technical assistance on program evaluation to state and local criminal justice agencies. He has partnered with the Pew Center on the States and the Crime and Justice Institute on sentencing and corrections policy reform in various states. In addition, he was previously an associate professor of public policy and administration for Southwestern Oklahoma State University, coordinating its criminal justice program, as well as since adjuncting for the University of Maryland, Norwich University, and Columbia College.

His research has appeared in policy, political science, education, criminal justice, and sentencing journals as well as in professional and government publications. He previously served on the executive board of the National Association of Sentencing Commissions.

He received his Ph.D. in political science with an outside field in criminology from the University of Missouri.

David Feldman, Ph.D.

David Feldman is Professor and Chair of the Department of Planning, Policy and Design – and Professor of Political Science – at the University of California, Irvine. His Ph.D. is from the University of Missouri, and his B.A. is from Kent State University in Ohio. His current research is directed at trans-boundary conflicts over water resources management, the role of civil society groups in environmental decision-making, especially in newly-emerging democracies, the geopolitics of energy and resource policy, and public perceptions of environmental risk.

Feldman served as Head of the Political Science Department at UT (2003-7), and as a staff member of what is now the Institute for a Secure and Sustainable Environment from 1993-2003. He was also on the research staff at Oak Ridge National Laboratory from 1988-1993.

At Irvine, Feldman has also served as a lead author for a 2008 U.S. Climate Change Science Program report on climate variability and water that was published by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and is co-Principal Investigator on a five-year, \$4.5 million National Science Foundation grant to explore Low Energy Options for Making Water from Wastewater through the Partnerships for International Research and Education program. He is the author of nearly 80 articles, book chapters, and books, and is an extramural funding reviewer for NSF's Decision Making under Uncertainty Collaborative (DMUU) (2010) and reviewer for the final report (2012) of the Southwest Climate Assessment, produced by the University of Arizona's NOAA-funded Climate Assessment of the Southwest.

His most recent books include *Water* (Polity Books, 2012), which explores trans-boundary conflicts over water resources world-wide; The Politics of Environmental Policy in Russia (with Ivan Blokov of Greenpeace Russia, Elgar Books, 2012) – an examination of the challenges facing an environmental civil society in newly-emerging democracies; The Geopolitics of Natural Resources (Elgar, 2011), and Water Policy for Sustainable *Development* (Johns Hopkins, 2007).

RESOURCES

Books

Homer-Dixon, T. (2006). The Upside of Down: Catastrophe, Creativity and the Renewal of Civilization. Washington, D.C.: Island Press.

Zolli, A., and Healy, A.M. (2012). Resilience: Why Things Bounce Back. New York: Free Press.

Interactive Maps

Center for Climate and Energy Solutions. (n.d.) State and Local Climate Adaptation. C2es.org. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.c2es.org/us-states-regions/policy- maps/adaptation

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014, January). CDC's Climate-Ready States & Cities Initiative. *Cdc*.gov. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/climate ready.htm

Natural Resources Defense Council. (n.d.) Ready or Not: How Water-Ready Is Your State or City? NRDC.org. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.nrdc.org/water/readiness/

Weather Underground. (n.d.) Storm Surge Inundation Maps for the U.S. Coast. Wunderground.com. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.wunderground.com/hurricane/surge_images.asp

Programs and Organizations

Green Prisons.org. (n.d.) Green Prisons.org. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.greenprisons.org/

Illinois Department of Corrections. (n.d.) Sustainability. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www2.illinois.gov/idoc/aboutus/Pages/Sustainability.aspx

National Institute of Corrections. (n.d.) Green Corrections. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://nicic.gov/GreenCorrections

Vera Institute of Justice. (n.d.) Ohio Green Prison Project. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.vera.org/project/ohio-green-prison-project

The Evergreen State College and Washington State Department of Corrections. (2014). Sustainability in Prisons Project. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://sustainabilityinprisons.org/

Planting Justice.org. (2014). Planting Justice. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from

http://plantingjustice.org/

Insight Garden Program and San Quentin State Prison. (n.d.). Insight Garden Program. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.insightgardenprogram.org/overview.html

Green Building Advisor.com. (2013). Green Building Advisor. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.greenbuildingadvisor.com/

HarvestH2o.com. (2013). HarvestH2o. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.harvesth2o.com/

Community Garden Coalition, Columbia & Boone County, MO. (2014). Community Garden Coalition. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://comogardens.org/

NOTES

- ² White House. (2013, June). Climate Change and President Obama's Action Plan. Whitehouse.gov. Retrieved March 5, 2013, from http://www.whitehouse.gov/share/climate-action-plan; White House. (2013, November). Executive Order—Preparing the United States for the Impacts of Climate Change. Whitehouse.gov. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-pressoffice/2013/11/01/executive-order-preparing-united-states-impacts-climate-change
- ³ Zaffos, J. and Daily Climate. (2012, April). U.S. Military Forges Ahead with Plans to Combat Climate Change. Scientific American. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.scientificamerican.com/article/us-military-forges-ahead-with-plans-tocombat-climate-change/
- ⁴ Insurance Information Institute. (2006, July). Global Climate Change and Extreme Weather: An Exploration of Scientific Uncertainty and the Economics of Insurance. *ILL*.org. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.iii.org/articles/global-climate-change-extreme-weather-explorationscientific-uncertainty-economics-insurance.html; Triple Pundit. (2013, November). Climate Change and the Insurance Industry. *TriplePundit.*com. Retrieved March 5, 2014. from http://www.triplepundit.com/2013/11/climate-change-insurance-industry/
- ⁵ Lipman, V. (2014, February). Is Climate Change the Biggest Long-Term Management Problem Facing Business? Forbes Magazine. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.forbes.com/sites/victorlipman/2014/02/04/is-climate-change-the-biggestlong-term-management-problem-facing-business/
- ⁶ The World Bank. (2014, January). World Bank Group President: This Is the Year of Climate Action. Worldbank.org. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2014/01/23/davos-world-bank-presidentcarbon-pricing
- ⁷ Biello, D. (2013, October). "Can Cities Solve Climate Change?" *Scientific American*. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.scientificamerican.com/article/cities-as-solutions-to-climate-change/; C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group. (n.d.). Global Leadership on Climate Change. C40.org. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.c40.org/

¹ United Nations, UN News Centre. (2014, January). Human Cause of Global Warming Is Near Certainty, UN Reports. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp?NewsID=47047&Cr=climate+change&Cr1=#.U wkxq15XBz-

- ⁹ Space Daily. (2014, February). Water Supply Availability "to Dominate US Natural Resource Management". Spacedaily.com. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.spacedaily.com/reports/Water supply availability to dominate US natural r esource management 999.html
- ¹⁰ Energy NOW! (2011, July). A Look Behind Unstable Gas Prices & Attempts to Fix Them. Greenbiz.com. Retrieved March 6, 2014, from http://www.greenbiz.com/blog/2011/07/02/whats-behind-unstable-gas-prices-andattempts-fix-them
- ¹¹ Lehmann, E., and ClimateWire. (2014, March). Infrastructure Threatened by Climate Change Poses a National Crisis. Scientific American. Retrieved March 6, 2014, from http://www.scientificamerican.com/article/infrastructure-threatened-by-climate-changeposes-a-national-crisis/. See also Contreras, O.A. (2013, November). Grant Has ADOT Studying Climate Change Impact on State Transportation. Cronkite News. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://cronkitenewsonline.com/2013/11/federal-grant-has-adot-studyingclimate-change-impact-on-transportation/; Garlock, S. (2014, March). Louisiana's Coastline Is Disappearing Too Quickly for Mappers to Keep Up. *Grist*. Retrieved from http://grist.org/climate-energy/louisianas-coastline-is-disappearing-too-quickly-formappers-to-keep-up/; Louisiana State University, Center of GeoInformatics. Assessing the Long-Term Impact of Subsidence and Global Climate Change on Emergency Evacuation Routes in Coastal Louisiana. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from www.evaccenter.lsu.edu/pub/11-09.pdf

; Pitt, J. (2013, September). Colorado Droughts, Wildfires, and Floods, Oh My! National Geographic. Retrieved March 6, 2014, from http://newswatch.nationalgeographic.com/2013/09/17/colorado-droughts-and-

wildfires-and-floods-oh-my/.

¹² The California Report. (2014, January). "How Will Drought Affect California Agriculture?" The California Report. Retrieved March 6, 2014, from http://www.californiareport.org/archive/R201401171630/b; Dallas Morning News. (2013, April). Texas Cattle Ranchers Struggling in Face of Drought. *Dallas Morning News*. Retrieved March 6, 2014, from http://www.dallasnews.com/news/state/headlines/20130406-drought-puts-texas-cattleranchers-in-stranglehold.ece

¹³ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2013, September). Climate Impacts on Human Health. Retrieved March 6, 2014, from http://www.epa.gov/climatechange/impacts- adaptation/health.html

⁸ Langford, C. (2013, October). In Texas Prisons, 14 People Have Died After Being Forced to Endure 120 Degree Heat. AlterNet. Retrieved March 6, 2014, from http://www.alternet.org/investigations/texas-prisons-14-people-have-died-after-beingforced-endure-120-degree-heat

¹⁴ American Society of Civil Engineers. (n.d.) Electricity Infrastructure Report Executive Summary. ASCE.org. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.asce.org/Infrastructure/Failure-to-Act/Electricity-Infrastructure-Report-Executive-Summary/; Halsey, A. (2012, April). Nation's Aging Electrical Grid Needs Billions of Dollars in Investment, Report Says. The Washington Post. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from <a href="http://www.washingtonpost.com/local/trafficandcommuting/nations-agingelectrical-grid-needs-billions-of-dollars-in-investment-reportsavs/2012/04/26/gIOAEl12iT story.html; Kiger, P.J. (2013, October). "American Blackout": Four Major Real-Life Threats to the Electric Grid. *National Geographic*. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from

http://energyblog.nationalgeographic.com/2013/10/25/american-blackout-four-majorreal-life-threats-to-the-electric-grid/

- ¹⁵ Harvard Kennedy School. (2012, May). Crime, Weather, and Climate Change (M-RCBG Associate Working Paper Series/No. 8); U.S. Global Change Research Program. (2013, September). Temperature and Violent Crime: Implications of Climate Change. Globalchange.gov. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.globalchange.gov/whatsnew/agency-news/970-temperature-and-violent-crime-implications-of-climatechange.html
- ¹⁶Le, P. (2008, November). Green Prisons Farm, Recycle to Save Energy, Money. USA *Today.* Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://usatodav30.usatodav.com/news/nation/2008-11-01-3438466893 x.htm
- ¹⁷ National Institute of Corrections. (2011). Greening Corrections Technology Guidebook. NICIC.gov. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://nicic.gov/Library/025859
- ¹⁸ Green Prisons.org. (n.d.) Green Prisons.org. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.greenprisons.org/
- ¹⁹ Illinois Department of Corrections. (n.d.) Sustainability. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www2.illinois.gov/idoc/aboutus/Pages/Sustainability.aspx
- ²⁰ Vera Institute of Justice. (n.d.) Ohio Green Prison Project. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from

http://www.vera.org/project/ohio-green-prison-project

²¹ Moore, D. (2013, July). The Garden Behind Bars. *Plumas County News*. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://plumasnews.com/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=11284:thegarden-behind-bars&catid=69:-headline-news&Itemid=6; Woody, T. (2013, November).

The World's Greenest Jail? *The Atlantic*. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2013/11/the-worlds-greenestjail/281021/

²³ Heldman, C. (2011, August). The Fate of Prisoners During Hurricane Katrina. Thesocietypages.org. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://thesocietypages.org/socimages/2011/08/27/imprisoned-disaster-political-willand-hurricane-katrina/; Murphy, J.A. (2012, September). Two Case Studies on Jail Evacuations During a Natural Disaster: Iowa's 2008 Flooding: Part 1. Corrections.com. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.corrections.com/news/article/31329-two-case-studies-on-jail-evacuationsduring-a-natural-disaster-iowa-s-2008-flooding-part-1; Murphy, J.A. (2012, September). Two Case Studies on Iail Evacuations During a Natural Disaster: Iowa's 2008 Flooding: Part 2. Corrections.com. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.corrections.com/news/article/31330-two-case-studies-on-jail-evacuationsduring-a-natural-disaster-iowa-s-2008-flooding-part-2; Shaw, C. (2010, April). Hurricane Katrina and the Lost Prisoners of New Orleans. Huffington Post. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/charles-shaw/hurricane-katrina-andthe b 541639.html

See also U. S. Federal Emergency Management Agency. (2013, October). A Year After Hurricane Sandy: New Jersey Recovery by the Numbers. Retrieved from http://www.fema.gov/news-release/2013/10/25/year-after-hurricane-sandy-new-jerseyrecovery-numbers.

²⁴ Zolli, A., and Healy, A.M. (2012). Resilience: Why Things Bounce Back. New York: Free Press.

²² Thompson, T. (2011, November). Why Prison Inmates Make Great Conservationists. Grist.org. Retrieved March 5, 2014, from http://grist.org/animals/2011-11-02-emphasizing-empathy-why-prison-inmates-makegreat-conservationis/